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NOTICE is hereby given that the Fifty-fourth Annual General Meeting of Salada Foods Jamaica Limited will be held on Wednesday, 
February 20, 2019 at 3:00 p.m. at The Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, Legacy Suite, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, for the following 
purposes:

1. To receive the Audited Accounts for the year ended 30th September, 2018

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolution:

“THAT the audited accounts for the year ended 30th September, 2018 and the report of the Directors and Auditors thereon BE 
AND ARE HEREBY received and adopted.”

2. To ratify and declare dividend paid on 18th December, 2017 and 18th June, 2018 as final for the year ended 30th September, 
2018.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolution:

“THAT as recommended by the Directors, the interim dividend of $0.50 per stock unit paid on 18th December, 2017 and $0.50 
per stock unit paid on 18th June, 2018 BE AND ARE HEREBY ratified and declared as final and no further dividend be paid with 
respect to the year ended 30th September, 2018.”

3. Retirement and Re-election of Directors 

Article 72 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation provides that at every Annual General Meeting one-third of the Directors 
are subject to retirement for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to 
one-third, shall retire from office. The Directors retiring under this Article are Ms. Kathryn Lewis, Mr. Eric Stultz and Mr. Patrick 
Williams who all being eligible, offer themselves up for re-election.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution:

(a) “THAT the Directors retiring by rotation and offering themselves for re-election be re-elected en bloc.”

(b) “THAT Directors Kathryn Lewis, Eric Stultz and Patrick Williams be and are hereby re-elected as Directors of the Company.”

4. Directors’ Remuneration 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution:

“THAT the total combined remuneration of all Directors shall be determined by the Board.”

5. Appointment of Auditors 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution:

“THAT KPMG having signified their willingness to continue in office as Auditors of the Company shall be the Company’s 
Auditors until the conclusion of the Next Annual General Meeting, at a remuneration to be agreed by the Directors.” 

NOTES 

I. A member eligible to attend and vote at a General Meeting is entitled to appoint another person as his/her proxy to attend 
and vote instead of him/her. A proxy, so appointed, need not be a member of the Company.
 
II. All members are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.

III. Enclosed is a form of proxy which must be deposited with the Secretary, at the Registered Office of the Company not less 
than forty-eight hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting. 

DATED THE 1st  DAY OF DECEMBER 2018
 
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD 

Michelle Smith 
COMPANY SECRETARY 

NOTICE OF ANNUAL

GENERAL MEETING

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD 

Michelle Smith 
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By all accounts, financial year 2017~2018 was 
Salada’s best performance in its 60-year history.  
Not only did we surpass the $1 billion mark in 
sales for the first time, recording a turnover of 
$1.041 billion, we also posted net profits of $219.18 
million, another first in our history.  The Company’s 
stellar performance coupled with our commitment 
to continuously improve shareholder value saw 
dividends paid twice for the year (another first), 
totaling $103.88 million or $1.00 per stock unit, 
double the $0.44 paid in the prior year.  Earnings 
per share improved by 216% moving from $0.67 to 
$2.12. 
 
We cannot say enough about our distribution 
arrangement with Lasco Distributors. They play a 
pivotal role in our strategic marketing and branding 
initiatives to maintain and grow our position as 
brand leaders in the instant coffee market.  This 
partnership enabled domestic sales to grow year 
on year by 16.7%.  Domestic sales was $693 million, 
against prior year’s $594.42 million.
 
Export sales grew by 22% and our contract 
packaging business segment grew 35% above last 
year.  The US continues to be our major focus but 
we are also very encouraged with the growth we 
are seeing in other markets such as Canada, and 
Barbados.
 
The year was not without its challenges.  The 
inordinately long turnaround time to obtain import 
permits continues to be a sore point, resulting in 
logistic and inventory management issues that 
unnecessarily divert and consume management’s 
attention.  Changes to the blending rule imposed 
by Government, followed by the introduction of 
a cess on imported coffee beans and finished 
products starting in April 2018, resulted in Salada 
paying out in excess of $20 million in cess.  Because 
the cess was introduced mid-year, the full impact 
was not realized. However,  for fiscal year 2018~19 
we expect to pay out $90 million in cess.  This is not 
an insignificant amount and will have a negative 
impact on our bottom line.

Our recently introduced Mountain Bliss 876 brand 
is gaining visibility and meeting our revenue 
targets. Our Jamaica Mountain Peak Roast and 
Ground, launched in the last quarter of the year, 
is also gaining ground in the retail trade.  Look for 
this product to reshape the market for roast and 
ground coffee.

We have seen positive signs that there is increased 
awareness and acceptance, among  millennials, 
of our existing and more importantly, the new 
products which we are introducing especially 
formulated for their taste profile. 

Shortly after the fiscal year ended, we launched an 
initiative to invest $200 million to purchase and 
process Blue Mountain coffee cherries directly 
from local coffee farmers.  The response from 
the farmers, Government and the general public 
has been resoundingly positive.  If this initiative 
is successful, it will be part of our business plan 
going forward.
 
Finally, I again express gratitude to our hardworking 
men and women who dedicate their time and energy 
to manufacture and produce some of the best 
coffee and ginger products Jamaica has to offer.  
The continued support of my fellow Directors and 
commitment of Management, in shaping a brighter 
future for the company and all of its stakeholders, 
is always appreciated.

Patrick Williams
CHAIRMAN
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he Directors take pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended 30th September, 2018. The financial results for the 
year end are shown in the table below:

Details of the results for the year were approved by the Board on 15th November, 2018 and a comparison with the previous year 
is set out in the Group Statement of Other Comprehensive Income on page (10) of the Audited Financial Statements.   

DIVIDENDS
In the first quarter of the year the Directors declared and paid a dividend of $0.50 per stock unit on 18th December, 2017 
and in the second quarter of the year declared and paid a dividend of $0.50 per stock unit on 18th June, 2018.

The Directors recommend that the interim dividends paid on 18th December, 2018 and 18th June, 2018 be declared as 
final for the year ended 30th September, 2018.

DIRECTORS
There were no changes to the composition of the Board and Committees within the year. The Directors remain as 
follows:
•   Mr. Patrick Williams (Chairman)
•   Mr. Aubyn Hill
•   Ms. Kathryn Lewis
•   Mr. Eric Stultz
•   Mr. Michael Bernard   
Ms. Michelle Smith remains the Company Secretary. 

Pursuant to article 72 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation one-third of the Directors subject to retirement shall 
retire and may be re-elected to office at every Annual General Meeting.  The Directors retiring under this article are Ms. 
Kathryn Lewis, Mr. Eric Stultz and Mr. Patrick Williams, all being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.       

OFFICERS
As at 1st December, 2017 Mrs. Elaine Tomlinson was no longer the Financial Controller of the Company. Accordingly, the 
Board considered the internal staff and appointed Mr. Zayous Hamilton as Acting Financial Controller with effect 1st 
December, 2017.  The position of Financial Controller was subsequently advertised and filled by Mr. Garfield Edwards 
whose appointment was effective 1st July, 2018.  

The Directors wish to express their thanks to management and staff for their performance and dedication to the 
Company and congratulate them on their achievement during this year under review.  

Also, the Directors appreciate and wish to thank all shareholders and customers for their continued partnership and 
support to the Company.  

Dated the 1st of December, 2018
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Michelle Smith
SECRETARY

T

Dated the 1st of December, 2018st of December, 2018st

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Michelle Smith
SECRETARY

DIRECTORS’’

Report
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AUBYN HILL

Mr. Aubyn Hill has been a Director of Salada since February 2012. He is Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the Corporate Governance Committee. 

Mr. Hill is the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Corporate Strategies Limited and Chairman of the 
National Water Commission and the National Irrigation Commission.

Mr. Hill was appointed to the Senate in 2016 and subsequently elected its Deputy President.  He 
was appointed Special Investment Ambassador and Envoy to India. He is also the CEO of the 
Economic Growth Council.

Mr. Hill is a former Group Managing Director for the National Commercial Bank, Jamaica.  He is 
Chairman of Nation Growth Microfinance Limited, Innovative Renewable Energy & Electronics 
Limited and is a Director of the Jamaica Broilers Group Limited, and BCW Holdings. Mr. Hill 
also serves on the Counsel of the University of the West Indies and is Chairman of their Audit 
Committee. 

He is a graduate of Munro College and Harvard University where he earned a Master of Business 
Administration.   

PATRICK WILLIAMS
(Chairman)

Mr. Patrick Williams was appointed Chairman of Salada on March 2015 and has been a Director 
since February 2012. Mr. Williams is a member of the Audit Committee and the Procurement 
Committee.

Mr. Williams is a senior executive of the ICWI Group Limited, a leading general insurer in the 
English-speaking Caribbean.

He is a member of the Board of Ideal Portfolio Services, Ideal Finance Corporation, Hardware 
& Lumber and the University Hospital of the West Indies Private Wing Limited (Tony Thwaites 
Wing).

Mr. Williams is a graduate of the Bernard M. Baruch College - The City University of New York 
with a Master of Business Administration in Finance and holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Anthropology and Zoology from the University of Toronto.

MICHAEL BERNARD 

Mr. Michael Bernard has been a Director of Salada since November 2002.  He is also a member 
of the Audit Committee.  

Mr. Bernard is the Executive Chairman of Peak Bottling Company Limited.  He is a former General 
Manager of Jamaica Biscuit Company and former Managing Director of both the Cigarette 
Company of Jamaica and the Agricultural Products of Jamaica.  He is a Director of Carreras 
Limited and Hardware & Lumber.  He is also currently the Chairman of the Board of his alma 
mater, Jamaica College.

Mr. Bernard holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Administration and Bachelor of Science 
degree in Forestry Management from Washington State University and a Master of Business 
Administration from Harvard University.
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Eric Stultz

Mr. Eric Stultz has been a Director of Salada since January 2008.  He is Chairman of the Procurement 
Committee and member of the Corporate Governance Committee. 

Mr. Stultz is currently the General Manager of Baking Enterprises Limited and has worked for the 
National Continental Corporation since 1980 in various senior capacities.  He is a graduate of 
St. George’s College. 

Kathryn Lewis

Ms. Kathryn Lewis has been a Director of Salada since February 2012.  She is Chairperson of the 
Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the Audit Committee. 

Ms. Lewis is a founding partner of Lewis, Smith, Williams & Company, Attorneys-at-Law and 
Trademark Agents.  She holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science from McMaster 
University, a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of Liverpool, a Legal Education 
Certificate from the Norman Manley Law School and a Master in Business Administration from 
the Mona School of Business and Management.  She was admitted to the Jamaican bar in 2011.

Ms. Lewis is the Chairperson of Ideal Portfolio Services Company and Ideal Finance Corporation.  
She is also a Director of the Companies Office of Jamaica and the Trade Board Jamaica Limited.

MICHELLE SMITH (
(Company Secretary) 
)
Ms. Michelle Smith was appointed Company Secretary of Salada and its subsidiaries - effective 
April, 2015. 

Ms. Smith is currently the Managing Partner of Lewis, Smith, Williams & Company, Attorneys-at-
Law and Trademark Agents.  She heads the firm’s Commercial Division and Dispute Resolution 
Department. 

She is a graduate of the University of the West Indies with a Bachelor of Arts degree in History 
and a Bachelor of Laws degree.  She also holds a Legal Education Certificate from the Norman 
Manley Law School and a Master of Laws in International and Commercial Dispute Resolution 
Law from the University of Westminster.

Ms. Smith was admitted to the Jamaican Bar in 2005 and was also called to the bars of Anguilla 
in 2006 and St. Kitts and Nevis in 2007.
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CORPORATE 

Governance
The Board of Directors of SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED (Salada) 
recognizes the importance of developing a strong corporate governance 
structure and is dedicated to doing so.  To achieve this the Board ensures 
that Salada continuously strives to:   

> Be compliant with all the applicable legal and regulatory  
   requirements under which it carries out business 

> Implement systems, policies and procedures that promote good   
   corporate governance 

 > Foster good work ethic and principles among management and 
   staff 

> Be transparent and accountable to shareholders and stakeholders
   to fulfill its social responsibilities     

Salada’s Corporate Governance Charter, which is a Board approved 
Charter, is reviewed every two years to ensure that it accords with 
applicable law and regulations as well as local and international best 
practice for corporate governance.  It was reviewed and amended by 
the Board in April of 2018 and is available for review on the Company’s 
website at www.saladafoodsja.com. 

Board Responsibility 

The Board of Directors’ primary obligation is to provide guidance 
and directives to management that will ultimately result in increase 
stockholders’ value.   At all times Directors are expected to act in the 
best interest of the Company in the exercise of their judgement, which 
must be independent and sound business judgement.  They must 
also consider and balance the interests of the Company’s various 
stakeholders.  The Board is ultimately responsible for all policies and 
operating procedures that Salada implements in the carrying out of its 
business and must hold management accountable as well as itself be 
accountable for effecting same.   

Composition of the Board 

Integrity and ethical behaviour is a fundamental requirement of Salada 
in choosing its Board members.  Our code of conduct for our Directors 
therefore promotes ethical and responsible decision making.  

The Board of Directors consists of five (5) members, namely Mr. Patrick 
Williams (Chairman), Ms. Kathryn Lewis, Mr. Eric Stultz, Mr. Aubyn Hill and 
Mr. Michael Bernard.  The Company’s Corporate Secretary is Ms. Michelle 
N. Smith. 

Of the Company’s five (5) Directors there is only one non-independent 
Director and the other four (4) Directors are independent, meaning they 
do not have a substantial shareholding in the Company; are not a close 
relative of a significant shareholder; and do not have an employment 
relationship with the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 

The Board members are experienced and respected individuals from 
varied backgrounds and professions.  The expertise of the Board 
members to support and challenge management is reflected in the table 
below.

Evaluation

The Board of Salada approved the Company’s first Board, Committees 
and Directors Evaluation Policy in August 2018 (the Evaluation Policy).  
The Evaluation Policy requires the Board and each Committee of the 
Board to collectively complete a performance evaluation questionnaire. 
Further, each Director is required to complete an individual performance 
evaluation questionnaire. Evaluations are done annually at the end of 
each financial year. 

In keeping with the Evaluation Policy the Board, Committee and Directors 
completed their first evaluation for the year under review in October of 
2018.  All comments and recommendations have been reviewed by the 
Chairman of the Board with a view to addressing and improving, if any, 
those areas that require same within the next financial year. Overall the 
Board and Committees were pleased with their performance and the 
Chairman was generally satisfied with the performance of the Directors.  

Directors’ Compensation

The total Directors’ fees for the year under review were $8,948,906.25.   
On the recommendation of the Chairman of the Board, through the 
Corporate Governance Committee, an increase in Directors’ fees was 
considered and approved by the Board in the last quarter of the year 

under review with effect for the 
fiscal year 2018/2019. This is the 
first increase in Directors’ fees in 
4 years.

Board Committees

The Board’s three (3) established 
Committees are as follows:

i.    The Audit Committee
ii.   The Corporate  
      Governance Committee; and 
iii. The Procurement Committee

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is made up of four (4) members, namely Mr. Aubyn 
Hill (Chairman), Ms. Kathryn Lewis, Mr. Michael Bernard and Mr. Patrick 
Williams. Two (2) members form a quorum and meetings are held 
quarterly and/or when deemed necessary to do so.

The Audit Committee plays a critical role to the Board in overseeing the 
financial reporting and the auditing process of the Company’s financials.  
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The Committee’s roles and functions entail:

      - Reviewing the unaudited quarterly financials and audited financials
     -  Monitoring and ensuring that the integrity of the financials are 
       maintained
      -  Ensuring that proper accounting standards are complied with in the 
         preparation of the financials
     - Ensuring internal controls and systems are in place to identify and 
        contain business risks

During the financial year under review the Audit Committee: 

     - Reviewed and recommended to the Board the approval of quarterly    
       unaudited financial  statements and releases to shareholders  
     - Reviewed the audited financials for year ended September 30, 2017 
       prepared by the external auditors, KPMG 
      - Assessed the efficiency of the external auditors, KPMG, with a view to 
       recommending for approval the scope of work to be done by it and 
        the fees to be paid for services rendered
       - Investigated and considered the likely impact of the 2018 Government 
       imposed cess on imported green coffee beans on the Company’s
       cash flow and budget

Corporate Governance Committee

The Corporate Governance Committee has three (3) members, namely 
Ms. Kathryn Lewis (Chairperson), Mr. Eric Stultz and Mr. Aubyn Hill. Two (2) 
members form a quorum and meetings are held quarterly.   

The Corporate Governance Committee:

     - Carries out periodic review of the principles
       of Corporate Governance 
     -  Makes timely disclosures to its   
       Stockholders/Stakeholders and other     
       regulatory bodies
    -Ensures a formal and transparent     
       compensation/emuneration policy    
       for Executives, Directors and Senior 
        Management
     - Monitors as appropriate, Directors’ 
       orientation to update the skills 
        and knowledge required to fulfill their 
       roles both on the Board and 
       Committees
     - Reviews strategies, performances and     
       resolves disputes speedily

During the year the matters considered by the Committee were as 
follows:
     - Reviewed and approved amendments to Corporate Governance 
       Charter 
     - Reviewed and approved Management’s two year project proposal
        for Jebb Basic School, to among other things, attain Early Childhood  
       Certification and rebuild the homework literacy center 
     -  Reviewed and approved Board, Committees and Directors’ Annual 
       Evaluation Policy
     - Oversee the first Board, Committees and Directors’ Annual
       Performance Evaluation 

 
Procurement Committee

The Procurement Committee is made up of two (2) members, namely 
Mr. Eric Stultz (Chairman) and Mr. Patrick Williams, who together form 
a quorum. The Committee meets quarterly and whenever deemed 
necessary. 

The Procurement Committee’s role is to:

     - Ensure that the principles of honesty, fairness and integrity drive 
     efficient and cost-effective procurement of goods and 
       services within Salada and its subsidiaries
     -Hold management accountable for the prudent use of Salada’s 
       resources in compliance with policies, procedures and applicable 
       legislation

During the year the matters considered by the Committee were as 
follows:

     - Reviewed and approved expenditure for renovation to the Lobby and    
     Accounts Department at the Company’s office at 20 Bell Road, 
      Kingston 5
     -  Reviewed and approved of other periodic expenditure as required 
      under the procurement policy

Board and Committee Meetings Attendance

There were eleven (11) Board of Directors meetings, four (4) Audit 
Committee meetings, four (4) Corporate Governance Committee 
meetings and three (3) Procurement Committee meetings held during 
the year.

The Board of Directors in attendance at respective Board and Committee 
meetings is reflected in the table below.  A Director who is not a member 
of a Committee but attended that Committee’s meeting by invitation, 
record of attendance is included in the table.



DIANNA BLAKE-BENNETT
(General Manager)

Mrs. Blake-Bennett joined the Salada team in February 2016 as the 
Commercial and Corporate Affairs Manager and was promoted to 
General Manager in January 2017. Mrs. Blake-Bennett has over 15 years 
of experience in Sales and Marketing, leading in this area in a number of 
companies including Restaurant Associates Limited and the Jamaica Co-
operative Credit Union League. Prior to joining Salada, she was the Sales 
and Marketing Manager at Industrial Chemical Company. 

Mrs. Blake-Bennett holds a Postgraduate Diploma and an Executive 
Master of Business Administration from the University of the West 
Indies, Mona School of Business and Management.

TAMII BROWN 
(Commercial & Corporate Affairs Manager)

Mrs. Tamii Brown joined the team at Salada in April 2017. She is 
responsible for the marketing and positioning of the company’s brands 
in local and international markets as well as overseeing Salada’s 
corporate social responsibility initiatives. 

Prior to joining Salada, she worked with Stansfeld Scott as both Division 
and Caribbean Area Manager based in Barbados.

Mrs. Brown holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from York University, Toronto, 
Canada in Communication Studies and Spanish (cum laude) and a 
Master of Business Administration, Marketing (Distinction) from the 
Mona School of Business and Management.

LORNA LEWIS
(Group Operations Manager)

Mrs. Lorna Lewis joined the team at Salada in September 1996 as 
Quality Assurance Manager. She is now responsible for leading the 
manufacturing operations and oversees the security portfolio.  Prior to 
joining Salada she worked for the Seprod Group of Companies.

Mrs. Lewis holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of 
the West Indies in Chemistry and Zoology and a Master of Business 
Administration from Nova Southeastern University. 



GARFIELD EDWARDS
(Financial Controller)

Mr. Garfield Edwards joined the team at Salada in July 2018 as Financial Controller. He is 
responsible for the Group Finance, Accounting and IT portfolios. Prior to joining Salada, he 
worked as Director of Finance and Administration at Manpower and Maintenance Services 
Limited. He also worked with Productive Business Solutions Limited as Financial Controller. 

Mr. Edwards is a Chartered Accountant and is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (ACCA). He also holds an International Executive Master of Business 
Administration from Florida International University. 

DAVE LEMARD
(Engineering & Services Manager)

Mr. Dave Lemard joined the team at Salada in 2011 as Plant Engineer. He is responsible 
for leading the engineering and maintenance portfolios. Prior to joining Salada, he worked 
for a number of engineering and manufacturing organisations including Deryek A. Gibson, 
Desnoes and Geddes and Kraft.

Mr. Lemard holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree in Electrical Engineering from the 
University of Technology and a Master in Business Administration from Nova Southeastern 
University.

DARLENE JACKSON-ANDERSON
(Supply Chain Manager)

Ms. Darlene Jackson-Anderson joined Salada in May 2015. She is responsible for the purchasing, 
warehousing and logistics portfolio. Prior to joining Salada, she worked at Caribbean Cement 
Company for 27 years in various positions including Procurement and Stores Manager. Ms. 
Jackson-Anderson also worked in the insurance industry for 3 years as an Insurance Sales 
Agent.

Ms. Jackson-Anderson holds a Diploma in Business Administration and has attended 
numerous professional courses in Supply Chain, Logistics, Warehousing and Inventory 
Management.

NADINE FRANCIS
(Quality Assurance Manager)

Ms. Nadine Francis joined the team at Salada in June 2018 as Quality Assurance Manager 
& Safe Quality Food (SQF) Practitioner.  She is responsible for quality, SQF standards and 
product development. Prior to joining Salada, she worked as the Plant Manager for A.D. 
Steinhol Industries Limited. She also worked as Quality Assurance Manager at Virginia 
Dare, Jamaica and Caribbean Flavours & Fragrances Limited.

Ms. Francis holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemistry and a Master of Science 
in Occupational and Environmental Safety and Health from the University of the West 
Indies. 
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MARVIN KERR
(Marketing Coordinator)

NIKEISHA COUSINS
Administrative Assistant - Finance

ZAYOUS HAMILTON
(Financial Accountant)

JANET JOHNSON
(Executive Assistant & Export Coordinator)

NICHOLOY RICHARDS
(Plant Engineer)

MARLON BLENMAN
(IT & Special Projects Officer)



ur 60th year as a company was truly historic.  
We hit revenue of $1.041 billion and returned 
net profit of $219.18 million as we continue 
to execute on our strategic initiatives 
- grow exports, introduce new 

products in the local market to improve our 
market share, improve factory utility and 
make Salada a great place to work.  
It is our belief that delivering on 
these strategic pillars will improve 
shareholder value. 

The introduction of a cess 
in April of USD$1.41 per kg on 
the importation of green coffee 
beans, the main raw material in our 
operations, impacted our bottom line 
adversely by $20 million. Since then, we 
have been lobbying Government to remove the 
cess on commodity grade and priced green coffee 
beans, as this is not available locally. If the cess remains, our 
bottom line will take a $90 million hit in the coming fiscal year. 

Economically, the past year was a relatively stable one. There was 
growth in several sectors of our economy, lower unemployment aided 
disposable income availability which contributed to our revenue 
growth. Fluctuations in the exchange rate mid-year were concerning 
but by the last quarter of the year there was relative stability and our 
US investment portfolio was not negatively impacted. 

Gross Revenue

Five Year Sales History 

Revenue was bolstered by the strong performance of domestic 
sales, with year on year growth of 16.7% and revenue of $693 million.  

The performance of LASCO in the 
distribution of brands is exemplary, 

sales to trade was $655 million, 
growing 13% above prior 

year. Export sales grew 
by 21% above last 

year to $146.36 
million as 

our collective efforts with our 
distribution partners in the United 
States, Canada and Barbados 
were successful.  Growth in the 
US was 10% year over year, with 
the Northeast showing signs of 
recovery posting 14% growth 
over last year. The Canadian 
and Barbadian markets grew 
year on year by 440% and 220% 
respectively.

Group Operating Profit & Net Profit

Operating profit improved by 237.38% to $270.07 million, $33.70 million 
of this total was a write back relating to termination of medical 
benefits  associated to retired employees.  Operationally, selling and 
promotional expenses increased by $12.15 million above last year’s 
$32.77 million which was associated with the launch of our Mountain 
Bliss 876 brand. As Management  paid focused attention, administrative 
expenses were curtailed at $118,348 million in comparison to $112,913 
million prior year restated without retirement benefits. 

Net profit of $219.18 million, our best to date, was the result of our 
increased revenue, lower operational expenses and improvements to 
finance income earnings due to foreign exchange gains. 

Group Operating Profit 5 years

O

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

1,041,000      871,733         761,737         660,436         736,369Turnover

Increase
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Group Net Profit 5 years

Sales & Marketing 

Launching our newly acquired Mountain Bliss 876 brand (MB876) was 
the centre of our marketing thrust as we sought to gain distribution 
presence and share of mind. At year-end we had attained 70% 
distribution of the two sku’s- MB876  gold and classic in supermarkets 
across the island.  

Our flagship brands Jamaica Mountain Peak Coffee and Ginger 
products broke new ground as we executed on our strategic platform 
to engage a younger consumer base. We launched several activities on 
our university campuses, primarily The University of the West Indies 
(UWI) and University of Technology (UTECH), including a loyalty card 
with our campus partner Narda’s Coffee Shop and sponsorship of UWI 
5K to assist students with tuition were a few of the activities that has 
endeared our brands to them. Social media activities played a pivotal 
role in the brands gaining our younger consumers’ attention and 
loyalty. 

Operations & Quality

Full introduction of flexi work week in our packaging operations 
positively impacted cost of labour with the resultant improvements to 
factory overheads and gross margins.

In October, the first month of the new fiscal year, we had a boiler 
accident. It took longer than expected to get the boiler back up, thus 
production was affected for the first two months of the new year and 
will impact our first quarter results.  Operations resumed in December 
and we have in place plans which will realign our performance going 
forward.

We continue to operate as a certified Safe Quality Foods (SQF) 
manufacturing facility and were re-certified in November 2018.

Subsidiaries

During the year significant efforts were made to divest  Salada’s shares 
in the Pimora subsidiary, but without success.  Production and sales of 
Pimora smokers were discontinued, this caused a further impairment 
of the assets, with a resultant net loss of $6.5 million.

Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited continues to operate as the 
distribution arm of the Group and posted profits for the second year 
running. 
 
Corporate Social Responsibility

We continue to execute our plan to have 
Jebb Memorial Basic School certified as an 
early childhood facility. This year, a breakfast 
programme was instituted to help children 
that come to school without that very 
important meal. Additionally, classrooms 
were tiled, and industrial strength ceiling 

fans installed, which were required components for certification.  We 
continue to finance their lunch, yard maintenance and pest control 
programmes.  Our support continues to engender community support 
and goodwill.

Outlook

Economic Conditions

Jamaica’s macro-economic outlook is 
positive, with unemployment trending 
downwards and inflation set to be relatively 
stable at 4%. We expect that domestic sales 
will continue to grow as our strategies 
to enter new channels and eek out new 
opportunities in existing channels are 
realized.

Exports too, are expected to continue its upward trajectory with us 
capitalizing on the performance in the United States, Canada and 
Barbados whilst seeking opportunities in other markets. 

We will continue to leverage our manufacturing expertise and 
capitalize on our contract manufacturing segment while developing 
new products for future introduction.

Social media straddled with the use of traditional media sources will 
remain the main platforms utilized in the execution of our selling and  
promotional activities as we undertake to convert brand awareness 
into consumption of our products. 

Our biggest risks are the changes to the regulatory environment 
and the lack thereof of a transparent policy that governs the coffee 
industry and specifically the importation of coffee beans since the 
country does not produce commodity grade or priced coffee for 
manufacturing.  We will continue to lobby Government to ensure that 
a policy is put in place and to ensure that our manufacturing interest  
is considered.

As we continue to grow shareholder value, management will continue 
to pay keen attention to key areas of the business.

Dianna Blake-Bennett
General Manager





SHAREHOLDERS SHAREHOLDING
RESOURCE IN MOTION LIMITED 60,233,700
AIC (JAMAICA) LIMITED 8,988,120
DONWIS LIMITED 7,504,280
IDEAL PORTFOLIO SERVICES COMPANY LIMITED 3,719,554
IDEAL BETTING COMPANY LIMITED 2,755,310

IDEAL GROUP CORPORATION LIMITED 2,726,000
IDEAL FINANCE CORPORATION LIMITED 2,620,000
DONOVAN A. LEWIS 1,677,400
PAM - POOLED EQUITY FUND 1,088,045
CARIBBEAN TRUST & MERCHANT BANK 1,030,760

92,343,169

DIRECTORS TOTAL  
SHAREHOLDING DIRECT CONNECTED

Bernard, Michael 0 0 0

Hill, Aubyn 0 0 0

Lewis, Kathryn 82,216,877 1,000 82,215,877

Stultz, Eric* 0 0 272,000

Williams, Patrick** 0 0 344,385

COMPANY SECRETARY TOTAL  
SHAREHOLDING DIRECT CONNECTED

Smith, Michelle 0 0 0

10 LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS & CONNECTED PARTIES
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

SENIOR MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

LIST OF SHAREHOLDERS
As at September 2018

31

N.B: 
*Effective 1 July 2018, Garfield Edwards was appointed Financial Controller for Salada Foods Jamaica Limited

**As at 23 August 2018, Directors Eric Stultz and Patrick Williams acquired an additional 100,000 and 200,000 shares respectively, being held through 
Ideal Portfolio Services Company Limited

SENIOR MANAGERS TOTAL  
SHAREHOLDING DIRECT CONNECTED

Blake-Bennett, Dianna 0 0 0

Edwards, Garfield 0 0 0

Lemard, Dave 0 0 0
Lewis, Lorna 0 0 0
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Statement of Financial Position
September 30, 2018

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Group Company
Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
NON-CURRENT ASSET

Property, plant and equipment 3 115,381 104,263 79,224 62,588
Intangible asset 4 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300
Assets held-for-sale 3(e) - 39,000 - -
Investment in subsidiary 

companies 5(a) - - 103,976 110,476
Investment 9(a) 95,666 42,150 95,666 42,150
Deferred tax asset 10 20,933 46,735 12,363 21,886
Due from subsidiary 5(b) - - - 70,682
Long-term receivables 6 15,681 - - -

248,961 233,448 292,529 309,082

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 8 80,890 146,349 71,515 141,301
Investment 9(b) 303,199 176,302 303,199 176,302
Accounts receivable 11 236,945 192,138 101,005 119,066
Inventories 12 224,206 209,145 218,139 198,579
Current portion of long-term 

receivables 6 7,076 - - -
Due from subsidiary 5(c) - - 149,979 97,681
Tax recoverable 5,416 93 4,846 -

857,732 724,027 848,683 732,929

TOTAL ASSETS 1,106,693 957,475 1,141,212 1,042,011

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Share capital 14 73,216 73,216 73,216 73,216
Capital reserves 15 16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543
Retained earnings 849,364 712,556 905,282 817,102

938,855 802,047 985,041 896,861
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 16 1,609 2,109 - -

940,464 804,156 985,041 896,861
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY

Finance lease obligation 17 - 5,251 - 5,251
Employee benefit obligation 7(b)(i) - 33,370 - 33,370

- 38,621 - 38,621

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 18 130,999 94,375 120,941 86,206
Current portion of finance lease obligation 17 5,255 8,154 5,255 8,154
Taxation payable 29,975 12,169 29,975 12,169

166,229 114,698 156,171 106,529

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND LIABILITIES 1,106,693 957,475 1,141,212 1,042,011

The financial statements on pages 8 to 55 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
November 23, 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

____________________________________________________ Chairman __________________________ Director__________________________ Director
Patrick WilliamsPatrick Williams Michael Bernard
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Group Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended September 30, 2018

Notes 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Sales 19 1,041,496 871,733
Cost of sales 21(a) ( 641,540) (595,482)

Gross profit 399,956 276,251
Administration expenses 21(c) ( 84,979) (148,855)
Selling and promotion expenses 21(b) ( 44,903) (  32,756)
Other expenses 21(d) - ( 14,590)
Operating profit before net finance income

and taxation 270,074 80,050

Finance income 20 22,201 9,765
Finance costs 20 ( 1,565) ( 2,305)

Net finance income 20 20,636 7,460

Profit before taxation 21 290,710 87,510
Taxation 22 ( 71,533) ( 18,824)

Profit for the year 219,177 68,686

Profit attributable to:
Stockholders of the company 219,677 69,631
Non-controlling interests 16 ( 500) ( 945)

219,177 68,686
Earnings per share:

Earnings per ordinary stock unit 24 $ 2.12 0.67

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Group Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended September 30, 2018

Notes 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Profit for the year 219,177 68,686

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss
Re-measurement gain on employee benefits 

assets and obligation 7(a)(vi), 7(b)(iii) - 12,404
Tax on re-measurement gain 10 - ( 3,101)

- 9,303

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss:
Available for sale financial assets net change in 

fair value 21,516 10,615

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 21,516 19,918

Total comprehensive income for the year 240,693 88,604

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Stockholders of the company 241,193 89,549
Non-controlling interests 16 ( 500) ( 945)

240,693 88,604

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Group Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
Year ended September 30, 2018

Attributable to stockholders
of the company

Non-
Share Capital controlling
capital reserves Retained interests

(note 14) (note 15) earnings (note 16) Total
$' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000

Balances at September 30, 2016 73,216 16,275 686,716 3,054 779,261
Profit for the year - - 69,631 ( 945) 68,686
Other comprehensive income:

Remeasurement gain on employee 
benefits assets and obligation,
net of tax - - 9,303 - 9,303

Fair value gains on investments - - 10,615 - 10,615

- - 19,918 - 19,918

Total comprehensive income - - 89,549 ( 945) 88,604

Dividends (note 14) - - ( 45,709) - ( 45,709)

Changes in ownership interests:
Acquisition of non-controlling interest

without change in control - - ( 18,000) - ( 18,000)

Balances at September 30, 2017 73,216 16,275 712,556 2,109 804,156

Profit for the year - - 219,177 ( 500) 218,677
Other comprehensive incomeOther comprehensive incomeOther com :

Fair value gain on investment - - 21,516 - 21,516

Total comprehensive income - - 240,693 ( 500) 240,193

Dividends (note 14) - - (103,885) - (103,885)

Balances at September 30, 2018 73,216 16,275 849,364 1,609 940,464

Retained in the financial statements of:
The company 73,216 6,543 905,282 - 985,041
The subsidiaries - 9,732 ( 55,918) - ( 46,186)
Non-controlling interests - - - 1,609 1,609

Balances at September 30, 2018 73,216 16,275 849,364 1,609 940,464

Retained in the financial statements of:
The company 73,216 6,543 817,102 - 896,861
The subsidiaries 9,732 (104,546) - (  94,814)
Non-controlling interests - - - 2,109 2,109

Balances at September 30, 2017 73,216 16,275 712,556 2,109 804,156

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Group Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended September 30, 2018

Notes 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIV ITIES
Net profit for the year 218,677 68,686
Adj ustments for:

Items not involving cash:
Depreciation 3 28,849 57,386
Amortisation of intangible assets 4 - 2,228
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 67
Impairment of assets held for sale 3(e) - 4,030
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 3(a) - 4,617
Impairment of intangible asset 4 - 5,943
Write off of biological assets 13 - 2,050
Income tax expense 22(a) 45,731 28,329
Deferred taxation 22(a) 25,802 ( 9,505)
Interest income 20 ( 6,835) (    7,300)
Interest expense 1,565 1,583
Employee benefits, net ( 33,370) 38,076

280,419 196,190
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Inventories ( 15,061) 69,957
Accounts receivable ( 48,008) (  44,740)
Accounts payable 36,621 ( 8,412)

Cash provided by operations 253,971 212,995
Interest paid ( 1,565) (    1,583)
Taxation paid or deducted at source ( 33,248) ( 23,428)

Net cash provided by operating activities 219,158 187,984

CASH FLOWS FROM INV ESTING ACTIV ITIES
Interest received 10,039 7,103
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 ( 39,967) (  12,563)
Intangible asset 4 - (    1,300)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 39,000 683
Investments, net (158,897) ( 90,903)
Long term receivable ( 22,757) -

Net cash used by investing activities (172,582) ( 96,980)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIV ITIES
Finance lease obligation ( 8,150) (    7,415)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest 16 - ( 18,000)

Net cash used by financing activities ( 8,150) ( 25,415)

Net cash provided before dividends 38,426 65,589

Dividends paid 14 (103,885) ( 45,709)

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents ( 65,459) 19,880
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 146,349 126,469

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 80,890 146,349

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Company Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended September 30, 2018

Notes 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Sales 19 911,190 789,444
Cost of sales 21(a) (622,857) (564,178)

Gross profit 288,333 225,266
Administration expenses 21(c) ( 75,414) (138,110)
Selling and promotion expenses 21(b) (         88) (  11,509)
Other expenses 21(d) ( 6,500) ( 34,006)
Operating profit before net finance income

and taxation 206,331 41,641

Finance income 20 20,930 8,827
Finance costs 20 ( 1,457) ( 2,220)

Net finance income 20 19,473 6,607

Profit before taxation 21 225,804 48,248
Taxation 22 ( 55,255) ( 12,224)

Profit for the year 170,549 36,024
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss

Re-measurement gain on employee benefits, 
assets and liabilities 7(a)(vi), 7(b)(iii) - 12,404

Tax on re-measurement gain 10 - ( 3,101)

- 9,303

Items that are or maybe reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss:
Available for sale financial assets net change in 

fair value 21,516 10,615

Other comprehensive profit for the year, net of tax 21,516 19,918

Total comprehensive income for the year 192,065 55,942

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Company Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
Year ended September 30, 2018

Share Capital
capital reserves Retained

(note 14) (note 15) earnings Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balances at September 30, 2016 73,216 6,543 806,869 886,628

Total comprehensive income for the year:

Profit for the year - - 36,024 36,024
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 19,918 19,918

Total comprehensive income - - 55,942 55,942

Dividend (note 14) - - ( 45,709) ( 45,709)

Balances at September 30, 2017 73,216 6,543 817,102 896,861

Total comprehensive income for the year:

Profit for the year - - 170,549 170,549
Other comprehensive income for the year - - 21,516 21,516

Total comprehensive income - - 192,065 192,065

Dividend (note 14) - - (103,885) (103,885)

Balances at September 30, 2018 73,216 6,543 905,282 985,041

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Company Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended September 30, 2018

Notes 2018 2017
$’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIV ITIES
Net profit for the year 170,549 36,024
Adj ustments for:

Items not involving cash:
Depreciation 3(b) 22,896 46,850
Investment in biological asset 13 - 2,050
Income tax expense 22(a) 45,731 28,328
Deferred taxation 22(a) 9,523 ( 16,104)
Interest income 20 ( 5,864) (    6,406)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 22
Impairment of investment in subsidiary 5 6,500 19,000
Interest expense 848 1,583
Employee benefits, net ( 33,370) 38,076

216,813 149,423
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Inventories (   19,560) 71,290
Accounts receivable 20,791 14,301
Due from/ (to)Due from/ (to)Due from subsidiary 18,384 26,870
Accounts payable 34,735 ( 11,145)

Cash provided by operations 271,163 250,739
Interest paid (       848) (    1,583)
Taxation paid ( 32,771) ( 23,369)

Net cash provided by operating activities 237,544 225,787

CASH FLOWS FROM INV ESTING ACTIV ITIES
Interest received 3,134 6,210
Investments (158,897) (  90,903)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3(b) (  39,532) (  11,969)
Proceeds from sale of asset - 58
Investment in intangible assets 4 - ( 1,300)

Net cash used by investing activities (195,295) ( 97,904)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIV ITY
Finance lease obligation (    8,150) (    7,415)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest - ( 18,000)

Net cash used by financing activities ( 8,150) ( 25,415)

Net cash provided before dividends 34,099 102,468

Dividends paid 14 (103,885) ( 45,709)

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (  69,786) 56,759
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 141,301 84,542

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 8 71,515 141,301

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements
Year ended September 30, 2018

1. Identification

Salada Foods Jamaica Limited (“ the company” ) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.  Its 
principal activity is the manufacture and sale of instant coffee and roasted and ground coffee 
beans and other consumer products. The company and its subsidiaries are collectively referred 
to as “ the group” [ also see note 2(c)] . The company’s registered office is located at 20 Bell 
Road, Kingston 11, Jamaica West Indies. Effective February 1, 2017, the company outsourced 
the distribution of its core products in local market to its subsidiary, Mountain Peak Food 
Processors Limited. In the prior year, operations of another subsidiary, Pimora Company 
Limited were discontinued.

The company is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

A shareholder of the company controls 76%  of the voting rights in the company.

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance:

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations, issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican 
Companies Act.

N e w , re v i s e d  and  ame nd e d  s t and ard s t h at  b e c ame  e f f e c t i v e  d uri ng  t h e  ye ar

Certain new and amended standards came into effect during the current financial year.  
The group has assessed and adopted those which are relevant to its financial statements.  

N e w , re v i s e d  and  ame nd e d  s t and ard s not  ye t e f f e c t i v e  

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following relevant 
standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations have been published but 
were not yet effective and the Group has not early-adopted them: 

(i) The Group is required to adopt IFRS 9 Financial Instruments effective October 1,
2018.  The standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement and sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial 
assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.  

Classification and measurement

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial 
assets that reflects the business model in which assets are managed and their cash
flow characteristics.  Accordingly, the basis of measurement for the Group’s 
financial assets may change. The standard contains three principal classification 
categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FV OCI) and fair value through profit or loss (FV TPL).
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2018

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance (continued):

N e w ,  re v i s e d  and  ame nd e d  s t and ard s  not  ye t  e f f e c t i v e  ( c ont i nue d )

(i) (Continued)

Classification and measurement ( continued( continued( )continued)continued

The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans 
and receivables and available for sale.  The Group does not expect the 
implementation to result in a significant change in the classification and 
measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

Imp airment 

The adoption of IFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the Group’s impairment 
methodology. IFRS 9 replaces the ‘ incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-
looking ‘ expected credit loss’ (ECL) model.  This will require considerable 
j udgement about how changes in economic factors affect ECLs, which will be 
determined on a probability-weighted basis.  The probability weighted outcome 
considers multiple scenarios based on reasonable and supportable forecasts. The 
new impairment model will apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost or 
FV OCI.  

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measured on either of the following stages, 
based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:

• Stage 1 - 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default 
events within the 12 months after the reporting date. This stage 1 approach 
differs from the current approach which estimates a collective allowance to 
recognise losses that have been incurred but not reported on performing 
loans;

• Stage 2 - Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial instrument. Provisions are higher 
at this stage because of an increase in risk and the impact of a longer time 
horiz on being considered compared to 12 months in Stage 1;  and 

• Stage 3 – Financial assets that have an obj ective evidence of impairment will 
be included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2, the allowance for credit losses 
will continue to capture the lifetime expected credit losses.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2018

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance (continued):

N e w ,  re v i s e d  and  ame nd e d  s t and ard s  not  ye t  e f f e c t i v e  ( c ont i nue d )

(i) (Continued)

Imp airment 

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measured on either of the following stages, 
based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:

Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a financial asset at the 
reporting date has increased significantly since initial recognition and 12-month 
ECL measurement applies if it has not.  An entity may determine that a financial 
asset’s credit risk has not increased significantly if the asset has low credit risk at 
the reporting date.  However, lifetime ECL measurement always applies for short-
term receivables without a significant financing component.

T ransition imp act

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will 
generally be applied retrospectively, except as follows:

• The Group will take advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate 
comparative information for prior periods with respect to classification and 
measurement as well as impairment changes.  Differences in the carrying measurement as well as impairment changes.  Differences in the carrying measurement as well as impairment changes.  Dif
amounts of financial instruments resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will 
generally be recognised in retained earnings and reserves as at October 1,
2018.

• The Group will determine the business model within which a financial asset
is held based on the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of initial 
application.

(ii) The Group is required to adopt IFRS 15 Rev enue from Contracts w ith  Customers
from October 1, 2018. The standard establishes a comprehensive framework for
determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised.  It replaces
existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Rev enue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer L oy alty  P rogrammes.

The standard introduces a five-step model to determine when to recognise revenue, 
and at what amount. The model specifies that revenue should be recognised when 
(or as) an entity transfers control of goods or services to a customer at the amount 
to which the entity expects to be entitled. Depending on whether certain criteria are 
met, revenue is recognised at a point in time, when control of goods or services is 
transferred to the customer;  or over time, in a manner that best reflects the entity’s 
performance. 
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2018

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued):

N e w ,  re v i s e d  and  ame nd e d  s t and ard s  not  ye t  e f f e c t i v e  ( c ont i nue d )

(ii) (Continued)

The standard scopes out contracts that are considered to be lease contracts, 
insurance contracts and financial instruments, and as such will not impact the 
maj ority of the Group’s revenue, including interest income, interest expense, 
trading revenue and securities gains.

The group is assessing the impact, if any, of the amendments and new standards on its 
financial statements when the standards become effective in 2019.

(iii) IFRS 16, L eases, which is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2019, eliminates the current dual accounting model for lessees, 
which distinguishes between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet finance leases and off balance sheet 
operating leases. Instead, there is a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that 
is similar to current finance lease accounting. Entities will be required to bring all 
maj or leases on-balance sheet, recognising new assets and liabilities. The on-
balance sheet liability will attract interest;  the total lease expense will be higher in 
the early years of a lease even if a lease has fixed regular cash rentals. Optional 
lessee exemption will apply to shortlessee exemption will apply to shortlessee exem - term leases and for low-value items with 
value of US$5,000 or less.

Lessor accounting remains similar to current practice as the lessor will continue to 
classify leases as finance and operating leases. Early adoption is permitted if IFRS 
15, Rev enue from Contracts w ith  Customers is also adopted.

IFRS 16 will result in leases being recorded on the Group’s balance sheet, 
including those currently classified as operating leases.

(iv) Amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, effective  retrospectively for annual for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 clarifies the treatment of: periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 clarifies the treatment of: 

(i) Prepayment features with negative compensation:  

Financial assets containing prepayment features with negative 
compensation can now be measured at amortised cost or at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FV OCI) if the prepayment amount 
substantially represents unpaid principal and interest and reasonable 
compensation. Reasonable compensation may be positive or negative. Prior 
to this amendment, financial assets with this negative compensation feature 
would have failed the solely payments of principal and interest test and be 
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2018

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(a) Statement of compliance (continued):

N e w ,  re v i s e d  and  ame nd e d  s t and ard s  not  ye t  e f f e c t i v e  ( c ont i nue d )

(iv) (Continued):

(ii) Modifications to financial liabilities:

If the initial application of IFRS 9 results in a change in accounting policy 
arising from modified or exchanged fixed rate financial liabilities, 
retrospective application is required, subj ect to particular transitional 
reliefs. There is no change to the accounting for costs and fees when a 
liability has not been substantially modified. These are recognised as an 
adj ustment to the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over 
the remaining term of the modified liability.

The group is assessing the impact that this interpretation will have on its 2020
financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation:

The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars ($), which is the functional 
currency of the group.  All financial information presented in Jamaica dollars have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise indicated.

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.  The significant 
accounting policies stated in paragraphs (c) to (aa) below conform in all material 
respects with IFRS.

(c) Basis of consolidation:

(i) A “ subsidiary”  is an enterprise controlled by the company.  The company controls 
an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights, to the variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity.

The balance in the consolidated financial statements include the financial statements 
of the company and its subsidiaries:

Territory of 
Entity Holding Main activity incorporation

Coffee Company of 
Jamaica Limited 100% Dormant entity Jamaica

Shirriff’s (Jamaica)
Limited 100% Dormant entity Jamaica
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SALADA FOODS JAMAICA LIMITED

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
Year ended September 30, 2018

2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Basis of consolidation (continued):

(i) (Continued)

The balance in the consolidated financial statements include the financial statements 
of the company and its subsidiaries (continued):

Territory of 
Entity Holding Main activity incorporation

Mountain Peak Food 
Processors Limited* 100% Distribution and sale of instant 

coffee, j uices and condimentscoffee, j uices and condimentscoff
(see note 1) Jamaica

Pimora Company
Limited 70% Manufacture of flavoured  

Briquettes (see note 1) Jamaica

* In May 2017, the company acquired the remaining 0.20%  of Mountain Peak 
Food Processors Limited, making the company a wholly owned subsidiary.

(ii) Loss of control:

On the loss of control, the group derecogniz es the assets and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related 
to the subsidiary. Any gain or loss arising on the loss of control is recogniz ed in 
profit or loss. If the group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such 
interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost.

(iii) Non-controlling interests:

Non-controlling interests are measured at their proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition. Changes in the group’s 
interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions.

(iv) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Balances and transactions between companies within the group, and any unrealised 
gains arising from those transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements.  Unrealised gains arising from transactions between the group 
and its subsidiaries are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the 
subsidiary.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and j udgements:

The preparation of the financial statements to conform to IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, 
contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting date and the income and 
expense for the year then ended. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if 
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRS that have a significant 
effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant risk of material 
adj ustment in the next financial year are discussed below:

(i) Pension and other post-retirement benefits:

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and statement of 
comprehensive income for pension and other post-retirement benefits are 
determined actuarially using several assumptions. The primary assumptions used 
in determining the amounts recognised include expected long-term return on plan 
assets, the discount rate used to determine the present value of estimated future 
cash flows required to settle the pension and other post-retirement obligations.

The expected return on plan assets considers the long-term returns, asset allocation 
and future estimates of long-term investment returns. The discount rate is 
determined based on the estimate of yield on long-term government securities that 
have maturity dates approximating the terms of the company’s obligation;  in the 
absence of such instruments in Jamaica, it has been necessary to estimate the rate 
by extrapolating from the longest-tenor security on the market.  Any changes in the 
foregoing assumptions will affect the amounts recorded in the financial statements foregoing assumptions will affect the amounts recorded in the financial statements foregoing assum
for these obligations.

(ii) Allowance for impairment losses on receivables:

In determining amounts recorded for impairment of losses in the financial 
statements, management makes j udgements regarding indicators of impairment, 
that is, whether there are indicators that suggest there may be a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from receivables, for example, based 
on default and adverse economic conditions. Management also makes estimates of 
the likely estimated future cash flows from impaired receivables as well as the 
timing of such cash flows. Historical loss experience is applied where indicators of 
impairment are not observable on individual significant receivables with similar 
characteristics, such as credit risks.
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Use of estimates and j udgements (continued):

(iii) Net realisable value of inventories:

Estimates of net realisable value are based on the most reliable evidence available 
at the time the estimates are made, of the amount the inventories are expected to 
realise. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of price or cost 
directly relating to events occurring after the end of the period to the extent that 
such events confirm conditions existing at the end of the period.

Estimates of net realisable value also take into consideration the purpose for which 
the inventory is held.

It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge, that outcomes within the 
next financial year that are different from those assumptions could require a 
material adj ustment to the carrying amount reflected in the financial statements.

(e) Property, plant and equipment:

(i) Property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost or deemed cost, less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost 
of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
embodied within the part will flow to the group and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Depreciation:

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis at annual rates estimated to write 
down the property, plant and equipment to their estimated residual values at the 
end of their expected useful lives. No depreciation is charged on the freehold land. 
Annual depreciation rates are as follows:

Buildings 2.5 - 10%
Infrastructure 2.5 - 10%
Machinery and equipment 2.5 - 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the 
reporting date.
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Assets held-for-sale:

Non-current assets, or disposal group comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected 
to be recovered primarily through sale, rather than continuing use, are classified as held-
for-sale. Assets held-for-sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
values less cost to sell.

Impairment losses on initial reclassification as heldImpairment losses on initial reclassification as heldIm -for-sale and subsequent gains and 
losses on re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. Once classified as held-for-
sale, property, plant and equipment are no longer depreciated.

(g) Investment in subsidiary companies:

Investments in subsidiary companies are measured at cost.

(h) Employee benefits:

Employee benefits comprising pensions and other post-employment assets and 
obligations included in these financial statements have been actuarially determined by a 
qualified independent actuary, appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report 
outlines the scope of the valuation and the actuary’s opinion. The actuarial valuations 
were conducted in accordance with IAS 19, and the financial statements reflect the 
group’s post-employment benefits asset as computed by the actuary.  In carrying out their 
audit, the auditors make use of the work of the actuary and the actuary’s report.

(i) Pension arrangements:

The group operates a defined benefit plan, the assets of which are generally held in 
a separate trustee-administered fund. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that 
defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a function of one 
or more factors such as age, years of service or compensation. The Plan was 
discontinued as of August 31, 2017 (see note 7).

The group’s net obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan is 
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefits that employees have earned 
in return for their service in the current and prior periods;  that value is discounted 
to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. To 
the extent that the obligation is less than the fair value of plan assets, the asset 
recognised is restricted to the discounted value of future benefits available to the 
group.

Re-measurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial 
gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the 
asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recogniz ed immediately in other 
comprehensive income.

The discount rate applied is based on the rate used to discount the defined benefit 
obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary, using the 
proj ected unit credit method.
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Employee benefits (continued):

(ii) Other post-retirement benefits:

The post-retirement medical benefits for employees and pensioners are sponsored 
by the company that pays the full premiums on an Insured Health Plan. The plan 
was discontinued as at March 1, 2018.

(iii) Other employee benefits:

Employee entitlements to leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A 
provision is made for the estimated liability for vacation leave, as a result of 
services rendered by employees up to the statement of financial position date.

(i) Inventories:

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is 
determined on the weighted average cost basis. The cost of finished goods and work-in-
progress comprises raw and packaging materials, direct labour, other direct costs and a 
proportion of related production overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
selling expenses comprising raw packaging material and goods in transit is based on their 
cost.

The cost of other inventories comprising raw and packaging materials and goods in 
transit is based on their cost and expenses incurred in acquiring and bringing them to 
their existing location and condition.

(j ) Biological assets:

Biological assets consists materially of ginger rhiz omes cultivation expenses, which will 
be written off against the crop to which they relate.  Ginger rhiz omes are not sold but, 
when harvested are used in production, and no active market exists for these assets.  
V aluation based on a discounted cash flow method is considered to be unreliable given 
the uncertainty with respect to the harvesting quantities and costs.  Consequently, the 
balance is stated at cost less impairment losses, measured by reference to estimated crop 
proceeds less cultivation, reaping, harvesting and transportation expenses to the point of 
sale.

(k) Accounts receivable:

Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, less impairment losses.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances, other short-term 
investments and other monetary instruments with maturities ranging between one and 
three months from the reporting date.
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Investments:

Investments are classified as loans and receivables or available-for-sale.  Loans and 
receivables are those that have a fixed or determinable payment and which are not quoted 
in an active market.  Loans and receivables investments are initially measured at cost and 
subsequently at amortised cost, calculated on the effective interest rate method, less 
impairment losses.  

Available-for-sale investments are initially recognised at cost and subsequently at fair 
value where a quoted market price is available in an active market.  Any resultant gain or
loss is recognised in investment revaluation reserve through other comprehensive 
income.  This is done until the investment is sold or otherwise disposed of, or when the 
carrying amount of the investment is j udged to be impaired, at which time the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in investment revaluation reserve is transferred to 
profit or loss.

(n) Accounts payable:

Trade and other payables are measured at amortised cost.

(o) Provisions:

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the company and 
its subsidiaries have a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If 
the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the obligation.

(p) Impairment:

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date. An impairment loss is 
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or group of operating assets 
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount:

The recoverable amount of the group’s receivables is calculated as the present 
value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest 
rate inherent in the asset. Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
For an asset that does not generate independent cash inflows, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the group of operating assets to which the asset belongs.
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2. Statement of compliance, basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(p) Impairment (continued):

(ii) Reversals of impairment:

An impairment loss in respect of receivables is reversed if the subsequent increase 
in recoverable amount can be related obj ectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(q) Revenue:

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. No revenue is recognised if 
there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or material 
associated costs on the possible return of goods.

(r) Net finance income:

Net finance income comprises interest payable on long-term loan, calculated using the 
effective interest rate method, interest income on funds invested, material bank charges 
and foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the yield 
on the asset.

(s) Income tax:

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Income 
tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly to equity, in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adj ustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years.

Deferred tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted at the reporting date.
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(s) Income tax (continued):

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, except to the extent that the group is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.

(t) Dividends:

Dividends are recognised in the period in which they are declared.

(u) Determination of profit and loss:

Profit is determined as the difference between the revenues from the goods and services 
rendered and the costs and other charges incurred during the year. Profits on transactions 
are taken in the year in which they are realised.  A transaction is realised at the moment
of delivery. Losses are taken in the year in which they are realised or determinable.

(v) Foreign currencies:

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, 
which are stated at historical cost, are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the 
reporting date. Foreign exchange differences arising from fluctuations in exchange rates 
are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies, which are stated at historical cost, are translated at the foreign 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated to the 
functional currency at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates that the values were 
determined.
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(w) Related parties:

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its 
financial statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related P arty  D isclosures as the “ reporting 
entity” ).

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if 
that person:

(i) has control or j oint control over the reporting entity;

(ii) has significant influence over the reporting entity;  or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a 
parent of the reporting entity.

(b) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the means that each parent, subsidiary and f
others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or j oint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
j oint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are j oint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a j oint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 
of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 
either the reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the 
reporting entity is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related 
to the reporting entity.

(vi) The entity is controlled, or j ointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity).

(viii)The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the 
reporting entity.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between 
related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
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(x) Intangible assets:

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new 
scientific technical knowledge and understanding, is recognised in profit or loss as 
incurred.

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or 
substantially improved products and processes. Development expenditure is capitalised 
only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically 
and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends 
to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The 
expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour, overhead costs that 
are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use. Other development 
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.  Amortiz ation is calculated using the straight 
line method to allocate cost over five years.

(y) Segment reporting:

An operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business activities
from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;  whose operating results are 
regularly reviewed by the entity’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assesses its performance;  
and for which discrete financial information is available.and for which discrete financial information is available.and f

Based on the information presented to and reviewed by the CODM, the entire operations 
of the company are considered as one operating segment.

(z ) Financial instruments:

(i) General:

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one 
enterprise and a financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.

For the purposes of the financial statements, financial assets have been determined 
to include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and due from subsidiary. 
Financial liabilities comprise accounts payable and due to subsidiary. 
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(z ) Financial instruments (continued):

(ii) Recognition and derecognition:

A financial instrument is recognised if the company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised if the 
company’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if 
the company transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control 
or substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. Regular way 
purchases and sales of financial assets are accounted for at transaction date, i.e., 
the date that the company commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial 
liabilities are derecognised if the company’s obligations specified in the contract 
expire or are discharged or cancelled.

(aa) Finance leases:

(i) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease

At inception of an arrangement, the company determines whether an arrangement 
is or contains a lease.  If the company concludes for a finance lease that it is 
impracticable to separate payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are 
recognised as the amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset;  
subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance 
cost on the liability is recognised using the company’s incremental borrowing rate.

(ii) Leased assets:

Assets held by the company under leases that transfer to the company substantially 
all of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.  The 
leased assets are measured initially at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy 
applicable to that asset.

The depreciation rates applied to leased assets are consistent with similar owned 
assets, except where there is no reasonable certainty that the lessee will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term, in which case the asset is depreciated at the 
shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not 
recognised in the company’s statement of financial position.
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(aa) Finance leases (continued):

(iii) Lease payments:

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease.  

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the 
finance expense and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense 
is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

3. Property, plant and equipment

(a) The Group:
Freehold Machinery

Freehold buildings and equipment & Work-in-
land infrastructure vehicles progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
At cost or deemed cost:

September 30, 2016 10,000 52,445 337,476 - 399,921
Additions - 1,131 11,432 - 12,563
Disposals - - ( 977) - ( 977)

September 30, 2017 10,000 53,576 347,931 - 411,507
Additions - 15,077 16,520 8,370 39,967

September 30, 2018 10,000 68,653 364,451 8,370 451,474

Depreciation:
September 30, 2016 - 39,622 205,845 - 245,467
Charge for the year - 3,140 54,246 - 57,386
Eliminated on disposal - - (       226) - (       226)
Impairment loss - - 4,617 - 4,617

September 30, 2017 - 42,762 264,482 - 307,244
Charge for the year - 1,469 27,380 - 28,849

September 30, 2018 - 44,231 291,862 - 336,093
Net book values:

September 30, 2018 10,000 24,422 72,589 8,370 115,381

September 30, 2017 10,000 10,814 83,449 - 104,263

During the year, the group recognised an impairment loss of $Nil (2017: $4,617,000)
relating to machinery and equipment of its subsidiary, due to discontinued manufacturing 
and trading of its primary product.  
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3. Property, plant and equipment

(b) The Company:
Freehold Machinery

Freehold buildings and equipment & Work-in-
land infrastructure vehicles progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At cost or deemed cost:
September 30, 2016 6,144 34,880 268,053 - 309,077
Additions 1,131 10,838 - 11,969
Disposals - - ( 167) - ( 167)

September 30, 2017 6,144 36,011 278,724 - 320,879
Additions - 15,077 16,085 8,370 39,532

September 30, 2018 6,144 51,088 294,809 8,370 360,411

Depreciation:
September 30, 2016 - 24,427 187,101 - 211,528
Charge for the year - 2,054 44,796 - 46,850
Eliminated on disposal - - ( 87) - ( 87)

September 30, 2017 - 26,481 231,810 - 258,291
Charge for the year - 1,270 21,626 - 22,896

September 30, 2018 - 27,751 253,436 - 281,187
Net book values:

September 30, 2018 6,144 23,337 41,373 8,370 79,224

September 30, 2017 6,144 9,530 46,914 - 62,588

(c) At reporting date, property, plant and equipment subj ect to finance lease arrangements 
are included in machinery equipment and vehicles as follows (see note 17):

The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

At cost 25,111 25,111
Accumulated depreciation ( 8,928) ( 5,952)

Net book value 16,183 19,159

(d) Freehold land and buildings were professionally valued on a fair market value basis by 
Stoppi Cairney Bloomfield in September 2001. These values have been incorporated into 
the financial statements as deemed costs as at the date of transition to IFRS (October 1, 
2001).  The surpluses arising from these adj ustments were credited to capital reserves 
(note 15).
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(e) Assets held-for-sale:

This represented land and building located at 7 Norwich Avenue, Kingston 11, and 
classified as held for sale, following the decision of the directors to sell the property.  
During the year, the sale was completed at a consideration equal to the net realisable 
value (see note 6).

This comprise:
The Group

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Land and building - 43,030
Less: Impairment losses (see note below) - ( 4,030)

- 39,000

In the previous year, the group recognised an impairment loss of $4,030,000 to adj ust the 
carrying value of these assets to net realisable value.

4. Intangible asset

This represents development costs incurred.
The The

Group Company
$’000 $’000

At cost:
September 30, 2016 and 2017 12,443 1,300
Write-off (11,143) -

September 30, 2018 1,300 1,300

Amortisation:
September 30, 2016 2,972 -
Charge for year 2,228 -
Impairment loss 5,943 -

September 30, 2017 11,143 -
Write-off (11,143) -

September 30, 2018 - -

Net book value:
September 30, 2018 1,300 1,300

September 30, 2017 1,300 1,300

During the year, the group recognised an impairment loss of $Nil (2017: $5,943,000) relating to 
intangible asset in its subsidiary, due to discontinued manufacturing and trading of its primary 
product.  
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5. Investment in subsidiary companies and due from/ to subsidiary companies

(a) Investment in subsidiary companies comprises:
The Company

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Shares at cost:
Coffee Company of Jamaica Limited 790 790
Shirriff’s (Jamaica) Limited 91 91
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited

[ see note 2(c)(i)] 102,595 102,595
Pimora Company Limited 500 7,000

103,976 110,476

The Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

(b) Due from subsidiary (due after twelve months):
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited - 70,682

(c) Due from subsidiary (within twelve months):
Pimora Company Limited 1,261 -
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited - trading 85,904 52,681
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited – other 62,814 45,000

149,979 97,681

During the year, the company recognised an impairment loss of $Nil (2017: $15,006,000)
relating to a related party balance and $6,500,000 (2017: $19,000,000) relating to an
investment in its subsidiary, Pimora Limited, due to discontinued manufacturing and trading of 
its primary product [ see note 21(c)] .

See note 2(c)(i) for share ownership in subsidiaries

6. Long term receivables
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Receivable 22,757 -
Current portion ( 7,076) -

15,681 -

This represents mortgage receivable for land and building located at 7 Norwich Avenue 
Kingston, which was sold during the year.  The interest rate on the mortgage is 4% per annum. 
The mortgage is scheduled to be repaid by October 2021. The mortgage is secured by the 
property. 
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7. Employee benefits 

(a) Defined benefit pension plan:

The Group operated a pension plan which provided retirement and death benefits to its 
employees. The plan was administered by trustees and was managed by Guardian Life 
Limited.  Contributions to the plan were made by the company and employees based on a 
percentage of the employees’ pensionable earnings. Retirement benefits were based on 
the final pensionable salary which was the members’ annualised pensionable salary as at 
the normal retirement date.

Pursuant to Section 27(4) of the Pensions (Superannuation Funds and Retirement
Schemes) Act (the “ Act” ), the FSC granted approval for the winding up of the plan with 
termination date effective August 31, 2017. The effects of the winding up are reflected 
below:

(i) The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as 
follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Fair value of plan assets - 83,006
Present value of funded obligation - (83,006)

- -

(ii) The movement in the asset recognised in the statement of financial position is as 
follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

At beginning of year - 24,662
Contributions paid - 1,232
Pension expenses recognised in profit or loss - (36,782)
Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive

income - 10,888

At end of year - -

(iii) The movement in present value of funded obligations is as follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

At beginning of year - (44,276)
Benefit paid - 1,263
Employees’ contributions - (  2,297)
Current service and interest costs - (  6,628)
Curtailment gain - 7,571
Plan termination benefit - (42,513)
Actuarial gain due to:

Experience gain - 3,874

At end of year - (83,006)
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7. Employee benefits (continued)

(a) Defined benefit pension plan (continued):

(iv) The movement in the plan assets is as follows:
The Group and the Company

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year - 68,938
Contributions paid - 3,529
Interest income on plan assets - 5,633
Benefit paid - (  1,263)
Re-measurement gain on plan assets 

included in OCI - 7,014
Administrative fees - ( 845)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year - 83,006

In the prior year the assets of the fund were invested in Guardian Life’s Pooled 
Investment and Money Market Fund and the Deposit Administration Fund as at 
August 31, 2017 as follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017

$' 000 % $' 000 %

Pooled Investment and Money 
Market Fund - - 76,256 92

Deposit Administration Fund - - 6,750 8

- - 83,006 100

(v) The amounts recognised in profit or loss included in staff costs are as follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Employer’s current service cost - 3,062
Interest income on plan assets - (  5,633)
Interest costs on obligation - 3,566
Plan termination benefit - 42,513
Curtailment gain - (  7,571)
Administrative fees - 845

At the end of the year - 36,782
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7. Employee benefits (continued)

(a) Defined benefit pension plan (continued):

(vi) Components of defined benefit income recognised in other comprehensive income

The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Remeasurement of defined benefit liability - 3,874
Remeasurement of plan assets - 7,014

- 10,888

(vii) The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017

% %

Discount rate - 9.0
Future salary increases - 7.0
Future pension increases - 2.5
Inflation rate - 6.5

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on GAM 94 table, with no age 
set back. The expected long-term discount rate on plan assets were based on the 
assumed long-term rate of inflation.

(b) Post retirement medical benefit obligation:

In 2010, a resolution was passed for the company to sponsor a post-retirement benefit 
scheme which covers health care for its full-time employees and its pensioners. The 
method of accounting and valuation are similar to that used for the defined benefit 
pension plan. In November 2017, a resolution was passed for the company to discontinue 
all medical benefits to its retired and existing employees upon retirement who were 
members of the Salada Foods Jamaica Limited Superannuation Fund. The company 
discontinued payment of health benefits premium effective March 1, 2018.

(i) Movement in the present value of the obligations: 
The Group and the Company
2018 2017

Balance at beginning of year 33,370 32,360
Current service costs - 1,899
Interest cost - 2,814
Benefits paid - (  2,187)
Termination of health benefits (33,370) -
Actuarial gains arising from:

Experience adj ustments - (  2,888)
Changes in demographic assumptions - (  2,232)
Changes in financial assumptions - 3,604

Balance at end of year - 33,370
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7. Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Post retirement medical benefit obligation (continued):

(ii) Components of benefit costs recognised in the statement of profit or loss:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017

Current service costs 1,080 1,899
Interest on obligation - 2,814
Termination of health benefits (33,370) -

(32,290) 4,713

(iii) Credit recognised in other comprehensive income:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017

Experience adj ustments - (2,888)
Changes in demographic assumptions - (2,232)
Changes in financial assumptions - 3,604

Re-measurement loss on obligation - (1,516)

(iv) The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017

Discount rate - 9.0%
Health cost inflation - 8.5%

Post-employment mortality for active members and mortality for pensioners is 
based on the 1994 Group Annuity Mortality Tables (GAM) 94 table (U.S. 
mortality tables) with no age setback.

At September 30, 2017 the weighted average duration at the defined benefit 
obligation was 12.4 years.

The actuarial assumption regarding mortality, inflation etc. follow the same bases
as those outlined in note 7(a)(vii) above.
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7. Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Post retirement medical benefit obligation (continued):

(v) A one percentage point change at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial 
assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have affected the medical 
benefit obligations by amounts shown below:

2018 2017
One One One One

percentage percentage percentage percentage
Actuarial assumption point increase point decrease point increase point decrease

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Discount rate - - (3,560) 4,369
Medical inflation rate - - 4,347 (3,604)

8. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise:

The Group The Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash in hand and bank 78,363 71,012 68,988 66,373
Short-term deposits 2,527 75,337 2,527 74,928

80,890 146,349 71,515 141,301

At the reporting date, cash in hand and bank include US$170,000 (2017: US$271,000). The 
company’s short-term deposits include US$Nil (2017: US$384,000).  

9. Investment

(a) Long-term
The Group and the Company

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Available for sale - Equity investment 95,666 42,150

95,666 42,150
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9. Investment (continued)

(b) Short-term
The Group and the Company

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Resale agreements (i) 218,050 113,967
Fixed deposits (ii) 85,149 62,335

303,199 176,302

(i) The fair value of the securities under resale agreements approximates the carrying 
value of the agreements. The resale agreements include US$1,633,522 (2017:
US$653,697) which earns interest at a rate 1.4%  to 1.6%  (2017: 1.3% -2.25%  per 
annum).

(ii) Fixed deposit includes US$468,286 (2017: US$486,330) and earns interest at 1.6%
to 3.0%  (2017: 1.55%  to 3% per annum).  

At the reporting date, the company had investments of $212,616,000 (2017: $158,084,000)
with Ideal Finance Corporation Limited and Ideal Portfolio Services Company Limitedand Ideal Portfolio Services Company Limitedand Ideal Portfolio Services Com , both 
being related parties.

10. Deferred taxation

Deferred income taxes are calculated on temporary differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amount used for taxation 
purposes, using an effective tax rate of 25% .

This comprises:
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Net deferred tax asset 20,933 46,735 12,363 21,886

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:
2018

The Group
Recognition

Recognised in other September 
October 1, in comprehensive 30,

2017 income income 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(note 22)

Accounts payable 799 296 - 1,095
Property, plant and equipment 12,308 ( 363) - 11,945
Employee benefits assets, net 8,343 ( 8,343) - -
Unrealised gain on exchange 54 163 - 217
Tax value of losses carried forward 25,488 (16,872) - 8,616
Accrued interest receivable ( 257) ( 683) - ( 940)

46,735 (25,802) - 20,933
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10. Deferred taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following (continued):

2017
The Group

Recognition
Recognised in other September 

October 1, in comprehensive 30,
2016 income income 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(note 22)

Accounts payable 555 244 - 799
Property, plant and equipment 3,732 8,576 - 12,308
Employee benefits assets, net 1,925 9,519 (3,101) 8,343
Unrealised gain on exchange 10 44 - 54
Tax value of losses carried forward 34,317 (8,829) - 25,488
Accrued interest receivable ( 208) ( 49) - ( 257)

40,331 9,505 (3,101) 46,735

2018
The Company

Recognition
Recognised in other September 

October 1, in comprehensive 30,
2017 income income 2018
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(note 22)

Accounts payable 530 298 - 828
Property, plant and equipment 13,216 (   958) - 12,258
Employee benefits assets, net 8,343 (8,343) - -
Unrealised gain on exchange 54 163 - 217
Accrued interest receivable ( 257) ( 683) - ( 940)

21,886 (9,523) - 12,363

2017
The Company

Recognition
Recognised in other September 

October 1, in comprehensive 30,
2016 income income 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(note 22)

Accounts payable 556 (       26) - 530
Property, plant and equipment 6,600 6,616 - 13,216
Employee benefits assets, net 1,925 9,519 (3,101) 8,343
Unrealised gain on exchange 10 44 - 54
Accrued interest receivable ( 208) ( 49) - ( 257)

8,883 16,104 (3,101) 21,886
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11. Accounts receivable
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables 196,565 158,464 66,616 84,923
Prepayments 29,381 25,426 28,060 21,285
Other receivables 12,704 12,845 6,416 12,862

238,650 196,735 101,092 119,070
Less:  Allowances for doubtful debts ( 1,705) ( 4,597) ( 87) ( 4)

236,945 192,138 101,005 119,066

The exposure of the group and company to credit and currency risks and impairment losses 
relating to trade and other receivables are disclosed in note 25(a)(i).

12. Inventories
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Raw and packaging material 34,631 106,536 34,630 101,893
Finished goods held for sale 67,978 39,608 63,316 31,087
Work-in-progress 35,112 46,526 35,112 46,526
Fuel, spares and consumables 91,198 26,743 87,053 26,273

228,919 219,413 220,111 205,779

Provision for obsolescence ( 4,713) ( 10,268) ( 1,972) ( 7,200)

224,206 209,145 218,139 198,579

During the year, inventory write-offs aggregating $5,431,000 (2017: $5,929,000) were 
recognised in profit or loss.

13. Biological assets

In the prior year, this represented immature ginger rhiz omes at cost.

Immature ginger rhiz omes under cultivation represented five acres of farm land.

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount:
The Group and the Company

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Balance as at October 1 - 2,050
Overhead and other associated costs - -
Stock loss – rhiz omes - (2,050)
Harvested rhiz omes transferred to inventory during the year - -

Balance as at September 30 - -
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14. Share capital
The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Authorised:
500,000,000 ordinary units of no par value

Stated:
Issued and fully paid:

103,883,300 ordinary stock units of no par value 73,216 73,216

In a meeting of the Board of Directors held on November 16, 2017 and May 17, 2018 a
dividend of 50 cents and 50 cents respectively per share was declared (November 17, 2016: a
dividend of 44 cents per share was declared).

15. Capital reserves

The Group The Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revaluation surplus on assets carriedRevaluation surplus on assets carriedRevaluation sur
at deemed cost 14,528 14,528 4,838 4,838

Realised gains 1,747 1,747 1,705 1,705

16,275 16,275 6,543 6,543

16. Non-controlling interests

This represents non-controlling interests in the company’s subsidiaries as follows:

%  interest
2018 2017

Pimora Limited 30% 30%

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries 
that has material NCI, before any intra-group eliminations.

The Group
2018 2017

Mountain Mountain
Peak Food Pimora  Peak Food Pimora  
Processors Company Processors Company

Limited Limited Total Limited Limited Total
0% 30% 0% 30%

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Percentage ownership interest:
Non-current assets - 4,972 4,972 57,665 4,893 62,558
Current assets - 2,811 2,811 124,394 3,292 127,686
Non-current liabilities - (1,261) (1,261) (115,682) - (115,682)
Current liabilities - (1,160) (1,160) ( 59,692) ( 1,156) ( 60,848)

Net (liabilities)/ assets (30% ) - 5,362 5,362 6,685 7,029 13,714
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16. Non-controlling interests (continued)

The following table summarises the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries 
that has material NCI, before any intra-group eliminations (continued)

The Group
2018 2017

Mountain Mountain
Peak Food Pimora  Peak Food Pimora
Processors Company Processors Company

Limited Limited Total Limited Limited Total
0% 30% 0% 30%

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NCI share of subsidiary net (liabilities)/ assets - 1,609 1,609 - 2,109 2,109

Revenue - - - - - -

Total comprehensive loss/ profit for the year - (1,666) (1,666) 17,696 ( 4,197) 13,499
Loss allocated to non-controlling interests -

(NCI)                 - ( 500) ( 500) - ( 945) ( 945)

Cashflow from operating activities - (   893) (   893) (  38,494) ( 4,885) (  43,379)
Cashflow from investing activites - - - 31,669 (  9,997) 21,672
Cashflow from financing activities - 826 826 - - -

Net decrease in cash and cash 
equivalent - ( 67) ( 67) ( 6,825) (14,882) ( 21,707)

In July 2017, the Group acquired additional 0.2% for a consideration of $18,000,000 in 
Mountain Peak Food Processors Limited increasing its ownership from 99.8%  to 100% .

17. Obligations under finance lease

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:
The Group and the Company

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 5,413 8,999
In 2 to 5 years - 5,408

5,413 14,407
Less: Future Finance Charge ( 158) ( 1,002)

Present value of minimum lease payments 5,255 13,405
Less Current Portion (5,255) ( 8,154)

- 5,251

The fair value of the finance lease liability approximates its carrying amount.

Finance leases relates to the purchase of an x-ray machine and motor vehicles with lease terms 
of 3 years.  The company’s obligation under finance leases are secured by the lessor’s title to 
the leased assets. The carrying value of leased assets amounts to $16,183,000 (2017:
$19,159,000) (see note 3).
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18. Accounts payable
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables 52,864 23,763 44,030 21,114
Accrued charges 43,477 38,267 43,477 32,747
Other payables 34,658 32,345 33,434 32,345

130,999 94,375 120,941 86,206

The group’s and company’s exposure to liquidity risks to accounts payable is disclosed in note 
25.

19. Sales

Sales comprise the invoiced value of goods sold, net of general consumption tax, rebates and 
discounts.

20. Net finance income
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Finance income:
Interest income 6,835 7,300 5,864 6,406
Foreign exchange gain 15,366 2,465 15,066 2,421

22,201 9,765 20,930 8,827
Finance costs:

Bank charges and interest ( 1,565) (2,305) ( 1,457) (2,220)

20,636 7,460 19,473 6,607

21. Nature of expenses

Profit before taxation is stated after charging:

(a) Cost of goods sold:
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Gas and fuel 30,360 26,538 30,360 26,538
Depreciation 24,306 51,692 18,862 42,662
Insurance 6,495 5,406 6,517 4,691
Outsourcing 48,614 62,919 48,603 61,526
Other 22,671 8,501 22,488 8,244
Repairs and maintenance 19,123 17,076 19,058 16,291
Security 7,529 10,113 7,180 7,160
Utilities 37,776 29,425 37,754 28,888
Salaries and other related costs 25,313 28,535 25,313 28,535
Raw material and consumables 419,353 355,277 406,722 339,643

641,540 595,482 622,857 564,178
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21. Nature of expenses (continued)

Profit before taxation is stated after chargingProfit before taxation is stated after chargingProfit bef (continued):

(b) Selling and promotion expenses (continued):

The Group The Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Advertising and promotions 27,514 11,506 2 4,623
Bad debt (       22) - 86 -
Delivery and handling charges - 3,878 - 1,459
Other 7,063 4,873 - 3,321
Outsourcing - 1,601 - -
Salaries and other related costs 10,348 10,898 - 2,106

44,903 32,756 88 11,509

(c) Administration expenses:
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Audit fees 3,270 3,905 1,980 2,090
Computer expenses 2,512 3,116 2,435 2,955
Depreciation and amortiz ation 4,391 8,640 4,033 4,188
Director fees 8,949 8,949 8,949 8,949
Insurance 1,760 1,250 1,760 1,250
Outsourcing 15,844 14,138 15,544 14,138
Other 9,142 6,969 5,655 6,984
Legal and professional fees 19,287 12,321 15,233 7,989
Registrar and AGM expenses 2,062 2,334 2,062 2,334
Retirement benefit, net (33,370) 38,076 (33,370) 38,076
Salaries and other related costs 46,782 45,252 46,783 45,252
Utilities 4,350 3,905 4,350 3,905

84,979 148,855 75,414 138,110

In the prior year retirement benefit, net included an amount of $35,942,000 relating to plan 
termination benefit net of curtailment gain recognised upon the wind-up of pension plan. 
[ Note 7(a)(v)] .  During the year, this amount includes $33,370,000 relating to termination 
benefit upon discontinuation of medical benefits [ note 7(b)(ii)] .
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21. Nature of expenses (continued)

(d) Other expenses:
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Impairment of related party 
balance (see note 5) - - - 15,006

Impairment of assets [ see notes 3(a),
3(e) and 4] - 14,590 - -

Impairment of investment in 
subsidiary (see note 5) - - 6,500 19,000

- 14,590 6,500 34,006

22. Taxation

(a) Taxation is based on net profit for the year adj usted for taxation purposes and represents 
income tax charged at 25% .

The Group The Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current tax expense:
Income tax 54,915 37,306 54,915 37,305
Employment tax credit ( 9,184) ( 8,977) ( 9,184) ( 8,977)

45,731 28,329 45,731 28,328
Deferred taxation:

Originating and reversal of other
timing differences, net 25,802 ( 9,505) 9,524 (16,104)

71,533 18,824 55,255 12,224

(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate:
The Group The Company

2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit before taxProfit before taxProfit bef 290,710 87,510 225,804 48,248

Computed “ expected”  
tax expense @  25%  72,677 21,877 56,450 12,062

Difference between profits for 
financial statements and tax 

reporting purposes on:
Employment tax credit ( 9,184) ( 8,977) ( 9,184) (  8,977)
Disallowed expenses and 
capital adj ustments, net 8,040 5,924 7,989 9,139

Actual expense 71,533 18,824 55,255 12,224
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22. Taxation (continued)

(c) As at September 30, 2018, subj ect to the agreement of The Commissioner, Tax
Administration Jamaica, tax losses available for offset against future taxable profits for 
the group was $69,323,160 (2017: $123,777,448) and for the company $Nil (2017: $Nil).  
As at January 1, 2014, tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely;  however, the 
amount that can be utiliz ed in any one year is restricted to 50%  of the current year’s 
taxable profits.

Deferred tax asset of $8,325,615 (2017: $7,654,052) for the group has not been 
recognised in respect of tax losses in a subsidiary amounting to $33,302,461
(2017: $30,616,208).

23. Transactions with related parties

The Group The Company
2018 2017 2018 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(i) Directors emoluments:
Fees 8,949 8,949 8,949 8,949

(ii) For directors/ executive officers who receive salaries, the company contracts to a post 
employment defined benefit plan on their behalf.

Key management personnel compensation is as follows:

The Group and the Company
2018 2017
$’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits 17,624 17,437

24. Earnings per ordinary stock unit

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to members by the
number of stock units in issue during the year.

2018 2017

Net profit attributable to shareholders ($’000) 219,677 69,631

Number of stock units in issue 103,883,300 103,883,300

Basic earnings per stock unit ($) 2.12 0.67
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25. Financial instruments

(a) Financial risk management:

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk
• Liquidity risk
• Market risk
• Operational risk

The Board of Directors, together with senior management has overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of the group’s risk management framework.  

The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks 
faced by the group to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and group’s activities. 

(i) Credit risk:

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge 
an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit risk arises 
principally from the receivables arising from credit given to customers and deposits 
and investments with financial institutions.  The maximum credit exposure is 
represented by the carrying amount of the financial assets in the statement of 
financial position.

Cash  and cash eq uiv alents 

Cash and cash equivalents are maintained with substantial counter-parties deemed 
to have low risk of default.

T rade receiv ab les 

The group generally does not require collateral in respect of non-cash financial 
assets. The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristic of each customer.  Management has a credit policy in place to 
minimise exposure to credit risk. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers 
requiring credit.  Management establishes an allowance for impairment that 
represents its estimate of losses in respect of trade and other receivables.  
Management’s policy is to provide for balances based on past default experience, 
current economic conditions and expected recovery.

At reporting date, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset.
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25. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(i) Credit risk (continued):

T rade receiv ab les ( continued)

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

The Group
2018 2017

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
$' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000

Past due 0-30 days 181,683 - 118,173 -
Past due 31-60 days 2,243 - 33,137 -
More than 60 days 2,162 (1,705) 7,154 (4,597)

186,088 (1,705) 158,464 (4,597)

The Company
2018 2017

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
$' 000 $' 000 $' 000 $' 000

Past due 0-30 days 53,478 - 37,274 -
Past due 31-60 days 1,784 - 47,032 -
More than 60 days 11,267 ( 87) 617 ( 4)

66,529 ( 87) 84,923 ( 4)

Based on past experience, the group and the company believes that trade 
receivables not provided for, relates to customers that have a good track record with 
the company, as such no additional provision is considered necessary.

There is no change from the prior year in the nature of the company’s exposure to 
credit risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(ii) Liquidity risk:

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due.  The group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as 
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liability when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses 
or risking damage to the company and or its subsidiaries reputation.

Management aims at maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities. The availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities. The availability of funding through an adequate amount of com
management of the group maintains an adequate amount of its financial assets in 
liquid form to meet contractual obligations and other recurring payments. 
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25. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(ii) Liquidity risk (continued):

The contractual outflows as at September 2018 and 2017 for accounts payable are 
represented by their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position, and 
require settlements within 12 months of the reporting date.

There is no change from the prior year in the nature of the company’s exposure to 
liquidity risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(iii) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange 
rates, and interest rates will affect the group’s income or the value of its holding of 
financial instruments.  The obj ective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return.

• Interest rate risk:

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

The group materially contracts financial liabilities at fixed interest rates for 
the duration of the term. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no 
financial liabilities subj ect to variable interest rate risk.

Interest-bearing financial assets mainly comprise monetary instruments, bank
deposits and short-term investments, which have been contracted at fixed 
interest rates for the duration of their terms.

At the reporting date the interest profile of the group’s interest bearing 
financial instruments was:

The Group and the company
Carrying amount

2018 2017
$’000 $’000

V ariable rate:
Assets 398,068 325,682

Fair v alue sensitiv ity  analy sis for fix ed rate instruments

The group does not hold any fixed rate financial assets that are subj ect to 
material changes in fair value through profit or loss. Therefore a change in 
interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or equity.
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25. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(iii) Market risk (continued):

• Interest rate risk (continued):

Cash  flow  sensitiv ity  analy sis for v ariab le rate instruments

An increase in interest rate of change of 1%  (2017: 1% ) at the reporting date 
would have increased profit or loss by $3,986,685 (2017: $3,256,828), while 
a 1%  (2017: 1% ) decline in interest rate at reporting date would have 
decreased profit by $3,986,685 (2017: $3,256,828).

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency 
rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2016.

• Foreign currency risk:

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a f
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The group is exposed to significant foreign currency risk, primarily on 
purchases that are denominated in a currency other than the Jamaica dollar.  
Such exposures comprise the monetary assets and liabilities of the group that 
are not denominated in that currency.  The main foreign currency risks of the 
group are denominated in United States dollars (US$), which is the principal 
intervening currency for the group.

The group j ointly manages foreign exchange exposure by maintaining 
adequate liquid resources in appropriate currencies and by managing the 
timing of payments on foreign currency liabilities.

The table below shows the group’s main foreign currency exposure at the 
reporting date.

The Group and the Company
Net foreign currency

monetary assets
2018 2017

US$ J$ US$ J$

Cash and cash 
equivalents 412,131 55,003,704 655,000 84,160,295

Investments 1,712,800 228,593,200 1,140,207 146,480,929
Accounts receivable 446,001 59,524,058 608,041 78,126,643
Accounts payable ( 163,958) ( 21,882,131) ( 32,114) ( 4,126,355)

Net exposure 2,406,974 321,238,831 2,371,134 304,641,512
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25. Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Financial risk management (continued):

(iii) Market risk (continued):

• Foreign currency risk:

Exchange rates for the US dollar, in terms of Jamaica dollars, were as 
follows:

September 30, 2018 133.46
September 30, 2017 128.49

S ensitiv ity  analy sis

A 2%  (2017: 2% ) strengthening of the Jamaican dollar against the US$ would 
have decreased profit for the year by $6,424,777 (2017: $6,050,660).

A 4%  (2017: 6% ) weakening of the Jamaica dollar against the US$ would 
have increased profits for the year by $12,849,553 (2017: $18,151,980).

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, 
remain constant.  This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017.

There is no change from the prior year in the nature of the company’s 
exposure to market risk or the manner in which it manages and measures the 
risk.

(iv) Operational risk:

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of 
causes associated with the group’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure, and from external factors, other than financial risks, such as those 
arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of 
corporate behaviour.

The group’s obj ective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance 
of financial losses and damage to its reputation with overall cost effectiveness and 
to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to 
address operational risk is assigned to senior management.

(b) Capital management:

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain customer, creditor 
and other stakeholder confidence, and to sustain future development of the business. The 
Board of Directors monitor the return on capital, which is defined as total shareholders’ 
equity and the level of dividends to shareholders.  The company and its’ subsidiaries are 
not subj ect to any externally imposed capital requirements.
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25. Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Fair value disclosure:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between markets participants at the measurement date. The fair 
values of amounts disclosed as cash and cash equivalents, investment, accounts 
receivable, due to subsidiary/ due from subsidiary and accounts payable approximate to 
their carrying value due to their short-term nature.  

The group had no other financial instruments which were carried at fair value.
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